• I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Appellant, BN Builders, Inc. (hereinafter "BN") requests this Court 

to accept review of the decision or parts of the decision terminating review 

designated in Part B of this motion. 

II. DECISION 

BN asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals, 

Division One, terminating review that was filed on July 7, 2014. BN's 

motion for reconsideration was denied on July 4, 2014. 

The effect of this decision is that contractors in Washington will not 

be entitled to rely on asbestos results of AHERA accredited building 

inspectors ifuncertified and unqualified employees challenge a Good

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Did the Court of Appeals err in applying a strict liability standard 

for a WISHA violation where none of the workers, including the project 

manager, were qualified to undermine the GFS results of an accredited 

building inspector that floor tiles underneath a carpet tested negative for 

asbestos, was BN entitled as a matter oflaw to rely on the GFS results, 

and therefore could not have had knowledge that the removal of carpet 

would constitute an asbestos project when it was later determined that the 

GFS results were wrong? 
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.. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

BN seeks review of the Court of Appeal's Opinion which affirmed 

a Washington Industrial Safety and Health (hereinafter "WISHA") 

Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals 

(hereinafter "Board") involving citations by the Department of Labor and 

Industries (hereinafter "Department") for asbestos workplace violations. 

As required by RCW 49.26.013, before beginning any work BN 

obtained a GFS from Earth Consulting Inc. (hereinafter "ECI"), an 

accredited, independent testing company. The purpose of a GFS is to 

identify and test all suspect asbestos-containing materials (hereinafter 

"P ACMs") and issue a written report confirming the presence, location 

and condition of any asbestos containing materials (hereinafter "ACMs"). 

The property owner ordered and provided the GFS to BN. In accord with 

industry practices and good construction principles, BN carefully 

reviewed and relied upon the experts and the GFS. BN planned to remove 

carpet only in the areas where the GFS indicated no asbestos was present. 

Relying on the GFS, BN did not plan an asbestos project for carpet 

removal because no asbestos would be disturbed. For the "soft wall 

demolition," the GFS did not test "behind walls," so BN followed 

appropriate safety protocols to avoid contact with, or disturbance of, 

asbestos within the walls. 

The Board concluded that BN did obtain a GFS as required by law, 

and vacated Item 1-8. 
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• During carpet removal some tiles underneath the carpet stuck to 

the carpet and were removed along with the carpet. The Department 

inspected later and tested the tile beneath the carpet. Their tests concluded 

that the ECI GFS results upon which BN relied were inaccurate as the tile 

contained asbestos. The Department then cited BN with asbestos 

violations' because BN had not followed required work practice 

regulations for a Class II Asbestos project, and other citations. The 

Superior Court affirmed the Board's Decision and Order. 

Although BN had obtained a GFS in accordance with law, the 

Board, and the Court of Appeals, affirmed all asbestos violations despite 

BN's reasonable reliance on the GFS, by concluding that BN could not 

rely on the GFS results. 

BN did not know, and could not reasonably have known, that 

asbestos was present in the tile beneath the carpet because it reasonably 

relied on the GFS. Moreover, it is standard operating procedures in the 

construction industry to rely on the GFS, and per statute, BN must rely on 

the GFS. Asbestos safety violation Items 1-1, 1-2, 1-3, 1-4, 1-5, 1-6, and 

1-7a must be vacated. 

1 The Department alleged ten serious violations and three general 
violations. Of the thirteen violations, twelve of them involved asbestos 
work practices that must be followed in an asbestos abatement project. 
For example, in violation Item 1-1, the Department cited BN for not 
establishing critical barriers when the carpet in the hallway was removed. 
In Item 1-2, BN was cited for not conducting initial air monitoring during 
the carpet removal. 
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A. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b )( 4) 
and 13.4(b)(l) because there is a substantial public interest for 
all contractors engaged in remodeling projects where asbestos 
may be encountered; and, the Court of Appeal's decision is 
contrary to a decision ofthe Washington Supreme Court. 

1. Where microscopic asbestos fibers cannot be seen with 
the naked eye, contractors must be able to rely on GFS 
results performed by qualified AHERA building 
inspectors following EPA sampling protocol. 

It is undisputed that asbestos is hazardous. That is precisely why 

the Legislature adopted the Asbestos Act. Ch. 49.26 RCW. It specifically 

requires a good faith survey to be performed by qualified persons before a 

building renovation can take place. Pursuant to RCW 49.17 .180( 6), 

knowledge of the violation a prima facie element of a serious violation. 

BN asserts that it did not have actual knowledge that the tile contained 

asbestos, or that it failed to exercise due diligence. As a matter of law, 

due diligence is established by relying on a GFS performed by a qualified 

AHERA building inspector. 2 

2 RCW 49.17.140-150(1) sets forth the nature for judicial review 
of WISHA decisions issued by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. 
In a WISHA appeal, the BIIA findings of fact are verities if supported by 
substantial evidence. RCW 49.17.150; RCW 34.05.570(3)(e); Inland 
Foundry Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 106 Wn.App. 333,340,24 
P.3d 424 (2001). 

Legal decisions by the board are reviewed directly, based upon the 
record before the board. Legacy Roofing,Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & 
Indus., 129 Wn.App 356, 363, 119 P.3d 366 (2005). The Board's 
interpretations of statutes and regulations are reviewed de novo, Prezant 
Assocs., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 141 Wn.App. 1, 7, 165 P.3d 
12 (2007), giving substantial weight to an agency's interpretation of a 
regulation within its area of expertise, Wash. Cedar & Supply Co. v. Dep't 
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The only evidence that contradicted the ECI survey came from 

individuals who did not meet the requirements imposed under 

RCW 49.26.013. As set forth in RCW 49.26.013, the asbestos survey may 

only be conducted by "persons meeting the accreditation requirements of 

the federal toxics substances control act, section 206(a) (1) and (3) (15 

U.S.C. 2646(a) (1) and (3))." Asbestos sampling protocol is regulated by 

the EPA requirements set forth under 40 CFR 763. 

WAC 296-62-07703 defines ACM as any material containing more 

than 1% asbestos. P ACM means that the material is presumed to contain 

asbestos unless tested and shown not to contain asbestos. "The designation 

of a material as 'PACM' may be rebutted pursuant to WAC 296-62-

07721." WAC 296-62-07703 (emphasis added). 

In this case, none of the workers who had concerns that the ECI 

survey was inadequate met the requirements set forth under RCW 

49.26.013, nor did they perform any kind of test that satisfied the EPA 

sampling protocol. 

The individuals who contradicted the ECI survey included: 

Stewart Weston, Jeff Pennington, Casey Blake, and Robert Voss. 

However, none of these individuals had any qualifications to rebut the ECI 

survey results. That is, none of these persons were AHERA accredited 

of Labor & Indus., 119 Wn.App. 906, 913, 83 P.3d 1012 (2004). WISHA 
statutes and regulations are to be interpreted liberally in order to achieve 
their purpose of providing safe working conditions for every worker 
in Washington. Inland Foundry Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 106 
Wn.App. 333, 336, 24 P.3d 424 (2001). 
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Building Supervisors. As such they are prohibited by law to conduct good 

faith surveys. They did not follow any of the EPA sampling protocol, and 

therefore, their conclusions were not based on any scientific testing 

mandated by 40 CFR 763. There was no evidence in the record to support 

their belief as they did not articulate a reasonable basis to question the 

GFS results. When the tile beneath the carpet was questioned, Bob Voss 

went to the ECI GFS to confirm that the tile beneath the carpet tested 

negative for asbestos (i.e. "non detect"). The Court of Appeals failed to 

acknowledge that Voss relied on the GFS as the jobsite "Bible" due to the 

extensive and continual reference back to the document. (Tr. 2/15/11, p. 

35, lines 4-20). 

By adopting the Asbestos Act, and imposing the requirement of a 

good faith asbestos survey performed by an AHERA qualified building 

inspector, the Legislature created a "bright line" approach to identifying 

materials containing microscopic asbestos fibers. The legislative purpose 

was to take away any kind of guess work to determine if a material 

contained asbestos. Rather than allowing untrained and unqualified 

workers to conclude whether or not material contained asbestos, the law 

requires that the material be selected by a qualified building inspector and 

analyzed under the EPA sampling protocol. This eliminates the guess 

work or uncertainty. 

Until the Department pointed out that the ECI survey was 

inadequate, a fact unknown to any of the persons on site, BN was 
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required to follow the ECI survey. Surely if the ECI report reported a 

positive result for asbestos, an employer would not be allowed to ignore 

the ECI survey results by concluding that the GFS results were incorrect. 

Yet, that is precisely the position the Department is taking. Evidence that 

the ECI survey was inadequate from persons not qualified to rebut the 

ECI survey, was not sufficient to put BN on notice that the ECI results 

regarding the sample beneath the carpet were in error. 

The fact remains that BN removed the carpet because the ECI 

Survey indicated there was no asbestos material beneath it. That is the 

bright line approach adopted by the legislature and the Department in its 

WISHA regulations. 

General contractors in Washington must be allowed to follow the 

law as required under the Asbestos Act, and not be penalized for relying 

on an asbestos survey that demonstrated on its face that it met the legal 

standards. To hold otherwise would create the uncertainty that the 

Legislature sought to eliminate by requiring general contractors to obtain a 

good faith survey before working. 

2. The decision below imposes strict liability on employers 
contrary to both federal and state law contrary to this 
Court's New Meadows decision.3 

In New Meadows, this Court adopted the strict liability criteria set 

forth in the Restatement (Second) ofTorts §§ 519, 520 (1977). In that 

case, the plaintiff, while attempting to light an oil stove on December 31, 

3 102 Wn.2d 495, 687 P.2d 212 (1984). 
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1978, unwittingly ignited natural gas which was leaking from a damaged 

gas line several blocks away. The natural gas, unable to permeate the 

frozen ground, traveled laterally entering the drain field which serviced 

the plaintiffs residence. The leak allegedly was caused 7 years earlier 

when an underground contractor damaged a 2-inch natural gas pipe line 

owned by Washington Water Power Company (hereinafter "WWP") while 

laying underground telephone cable for Pacific Northwest Bell 

(hereinafter "PNB"). The subsequent explosion seriously injured Brown 

and destroyed the residence he rented from New Meadows Holding 

Company (hereinafter "New Meadows"). 

The New Meadows Court was asked to apply a strict liability 

standard. The Court declined to apply a strict liability standard because it 

concluded that natural gas pipelines did not constitute a "high degree of 

risk" which could not be eliminated by the use of reasonable care. The 

Court concluded that, "Some degree of risk of natural gas pipeline leaks 

will always be present." Even though asbestos presents a risk to the safety 

and health of employees, because the risk can be eliminated by a GFS, 

asbestos does not rise to the level of a "high degree of risk". Yet, the Court 

of Appeals decision applies a strict liability standard to asbestos. 

The effect of the decision below allows the Department to cite 

employers under a strict liability standard. By concluding that BN could 

not rely on the GFS result that indicated that the tile underneath the carpet 

in the hallway where they removed the carpet did not contain asbestos, BN 

8 



• 

• was then required to follow all of the safety and health regulations that 

applied to asbestos abatement contractors and was then punished because 

it did not do so. The asbestos removal violations cited by the Department 

only applied to the carpet removal. Yet, the Court emphasized that when 

suspect insulation material was found behind the walls, the work activities 

were stopped. This was consistent with the GFS as it clearly indicated that 

no testing was done behind the walls. Thus, there were no asbestos results 

for material behind the walls. Consistent with their asbestos awareness 

training, the workers stopped work to have the material tested (for the first 

time) to determine whether it contained asbestos or not. The fact that they 

stopped activities for wall insulation material does not support any 

inference that they should have stopped the carpet removal because tiles 

were coming up. The Department and the court below impose a strict 

liability standard on BN. This is contrary to both RCW 49.17.010 and 

federal case law. 

When Washington statutes or regulations have the same purpose as 

their federal counterparts, the court will also look to federal decisions to 

determine the appropriate construction. Fahn v. Cowlitz Cy., 93 Wn.2d 

368, 376, 610 P.2d 857, 621 P.2d 1293 (1980). Clarke v. Shoreline Sch. 

Dist. 412, 106 Wn.2d 102, 118, 720 P.2d 793 (1986). Adkins v. Aluminum 

Co. of America, 750 P.2d 1257, 1268, 110 Wn.2d 128 (1988). In WISHA 

appeals, the court will consider decisions construing the federal 

counterpart to WISHA, Occupational Health and Safety Act of 1970, 29 
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• U.S.C. §§ 651-678 (hereinafter "OSHA"), including decisions by the 

Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission. /d. 

The purpose of WISHA is to create a program to "assure, insofar 

as may reasonably be possible, safe and healthful working conditions for 

every man and woman working in the state of Washington .... " and such 

"program shall equal or exceed the standards prescribed by the 

Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (Public Law 91-596, 84 Stat. 

1590)." RCW 49.17.010. (emphasis added). Regulations promulgated 

pursuant to WISHA must be construed in light of the statute's stated 

purpose. Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of America, 110 Wn.2d at 146. 

Similarly, OSHA was never designed, nor could it have been, to 

eliminate all occupational accidents, nor was the Act designed to require 

employers to provide absolutely risk-free workplaces. Jones v. 

Spentonbush-Red Star Co., 155 F.3d 587 (2nd Cir. 1998). An employer's 

duty under OSHA is, "qualified by the simple requirement that it be 

achievable and not be a mere vehicle for strict liability." Loomis Cabinet 

Co. v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Com'n, 20 F.3d 938, (9th 

Cir, 1994), citing National Realty & Canst. Co., Inc. v. Occupational 

Safety and Health Review Commission, 489 F.2d 1257 (D.C. Cir. 1973). 

OSHA was designed to require, "a good faith effort to balance the 

need of workers to have a sale (sic) and healthy work environment against 

the requirement of industry to function without undue interference." 

Titanium Metals Corp. of America v. Usery, 579 F.2d 536 (9th Cir. 1978) 

10 



• (citing Anning-Johnson Co. v. OSHRC, 516 F.2d 1081, 1088 (7th Cir . 

1975) (quoting Legislative History of the Occupational Safety and Health 

Act of 1970, Subcommittee on Labor of the Senate Committee on Labor 

and Public Welfare, 92nd Cong., 1st Sess. (Comm. Print 1971) at 435 

(Remarks of Senator Williams). 

Federal courts have held that imposing negligence per se standard 

would inappropriately shift the burden of proof and precluding a finding 

of comparative negligence for an OSHA violation would "enlarge or 

diminish or affect in any other manner" the liability of an employer. See 

Ries v. National R.R. Passenger Corp, 960 F.2d 1156 (3rd Cir. 

1992),(holding that a violation of an OSHA regulation neither results in 

negligence per senor bars a finding of comparative negligence); Albrecht 

v. Baltimore & Ohio R.R. Co, 808 F.3d 329 (4th Cir. 1987) (same); see 

also Minichello v. U.S. Indus., 756 F.2d 26, 29 (6th Cir. 1985) (prohibiting 

use of OSHA regulations to establish product liability because knowledge 

of the regulation may lead the trier of fact to find liability). 

The Oregon Supreme Court has explicitly stated that OSHA "is a 

fault-based system." Don Whitaker Logging, Inc., 329 Or. at 263, 985 P.2d 

1272 ( 1999). Also, addressing the reasonable diligence inquiry, the federal 

courts have repeatedly clarified that "Congress quite clearly did not intend 

... to impose strict liability[,]" reaffirming that, "[i]n keeping with this 

purpose of eschewing a strict liability standard, . . . the Act imposes 

liability on the employer only if the employer knew, or 'with the exercise 

11 



• of reasonable diligence, [should have known] of the presence of the 

violation.' " WG. Yates & Sons v. Occupational Safety & Health, 459 

F.3d 604, 606-07 (5th Cir.2006) (citations and some internal quotation 

marks omitted; emphasis, brackets, and OmlSSlOnS m 

original); accord Titanium Metals, 579 F.2d at 543-44. 

"Not requiring the Secretary to establish that an employer 
knew or should have known of the existence of an 
employee violation would in effect make the employer 
strictly and absolutely liable for all violations and would 
render meaningless the statutory requirement for employee 
compliance." Brennan v. Occupational Safety and Health 
Review Commission, 511 F.2d 1139, 1145 (9th Cir. 1975). 

WISHA has the same stated purpose, and so, similarly, strict 

liability should not be imposed. If this Court affirms the asbestos 

violations against BN by affirming the conclusion that BN could not rely 

on the GFS, a strict liability standard is imposed on BN because BN in 

fact relied on the GFS results. In essence, where the GFS results were in 

error, the decision below holds BN to a strict-liability standard by 

requiring BN to follow all of the asbestos regulations when it did not 

know that the GFS results were incorrect. This is contrary to this Court's 

holding in New Meadows Holding Company v. Washington Water Power 

Company, 102 Wn.2d 495, 687 P.2d 212 (1984) and the stated purpose of 

WISHA. 

As noted by this Court in Siegler v. Kuhlman, 81 Wn.2d 448, 502 

P.2d 1181 (1973), one of the underlying concepts of strict liability rests 

on, "the ultimate idea of rectifying a wrong and putting the burden where 

12 



• it should belong as a matter of abstract justice, that is, upon the one of the 

two innocent parties whose acts instigated or made the harm possible". !d. 

at 455. In this case, BN and the employees potentially exposed to asbestos 

fibers are the two innocent parties: BN for relying on the incorrect GFS, 

and the employees who pulled up the carpet. 

When certain activities are sufficiently unusual and dangerous, 

even when the utmost care is taken to prevent harm, strict liability can be 

justified. The Restatement balances the beneficial character of the activity, 

the nature of the risk, and the degree to which it is an usual activity. Since 

many environmental cases involve injuries that occur over time, or from 

activities common in the past, the doctrine is somewhat limited in the 

environmental context. 

In New Meadows, this Court adopted the strict liability criteria set 

forth in the Restatement (Second) of Torts Sections 519, 520 (1977). 

Pacific Northwest Bell Tel. Co. v. Port of Seattle, 80 Wn.2d 59, 64, 491 

P.2d 1037 (1971) (holding underground water mains do not constitute an 

abnormal condition warranting strict liability). Specifically, Section 519 

provides for the imposition of strict liability upon those who are carrying 

on an "abnormally dangerous activity". Whether an activity is abnormally 

dangerous is a question oflaw Langan v. Valicopters, Inc., 88 Wn.2d 855, 

861, 567 P.2d 218 (1977). 

Section 520 of the Restatement (Second) ofTorts lists the factors 

to be considered when determining what constitutes an abnormally 
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dangerous activity: 

a) Existence of a high degree of risk of some harm to the 
person, land or chattels of others; 

b) Likelihood that the harm that results from it will be great; 

c) Inability to eliminate the risk by the exercise of reasonable 
care; 

d) Extent to which the activity is not a matter of common 
usage; 

e) Inappropriateness of the activity to the place where it is 
carried on; and 

f) Extent to which its value to the community is outweighed 
by its dangerous attributes. 

Rolling up old carpet for a construction renovation project does not 

meet the factors of strict liability pursuant to Section 520 of the 

Restatement (Second) of Torts. Following the statutory requirement of 

obtaining a GFS should constitute reasonable care to reduce the hazards of 

asbestos; removing the carpet in an old building is an appropriate place to 

engage in the renovation activity; and the need to renovate old buildings 

outweighs the potential hazards engaged in by BN. As such, this Court 

should accept review and correct the strict liability placed on BN for not 

following the asbestos safety regulations. 

3. Case of first impression. 

There are no reported decision from this Court addressing the 

relationship between the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act, Ch. 

49.17 RCW and the Asbestos Act, Ch. 49.26 RCW. Moreover, there are 

no reported cases addressing the appropriate standard to impose on 
14 



employers under WISHA. As such, this is a case of first impression for the 

Court. This Court has accepted for review over 1 ,300 cases of first 

impression.4 

Contractors need a prompt and ultimate resolution by the Court to 

safely and efficiently renovate old buildings. Across the state contractors 

on a daily basis obtain and rely on a GFS to warn them where asbestos is 

present, as well as areas where no asbestos has been detected to allow 

them where they may safely work. By citing BN for not following the 

WISHA asbestos safety regulations after it relied on a GFS result in 

essence holds BN to a strict liability standard. Moreover, where the 

results of a GFS were questioned by employees who did not have the 

statutorily mandated qualifications to perform or test GFS samples, the 

decision below erodes the confidence or security in relying on a GFS. 

This is not consistent with the Asbestos Act or WISHA. Accordingly, the 

issue presented for review is of substantial public interest pursuant to RAP 

13.4(b)(4). State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Review of the Court of Appeals opinion is merited here under RAP 

13.4(b) because contractors must be able to rely on a GFS that was 

performed by a qualified AHERA building inspector. Where no one on 

site was qualified to contradict the GFS results, and there was no 

reasonable evidence to question the GFS results, as a matter oflaw, 

4 A Westlaw search for the term, "first impression" found 1 ,303 cases. 
15 



contractors must be allowed to rely on the results. To hold that an 

employer cannot rely on a GFS incorrectly imposes a strict liability 

standard that was never contemplated by either federal OSHA laws or 

RCW 49.17.010. As a case of first impression, guidance from this Court 

will be of great assistance to employers in the State of Washington. 

This Court should accept review and order the vacation of violation 

Items 1-1, 1-2, 1-3, 1-4, 1-5, 1-6, and 1-7a against BN.