RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 25, 2014, 11:54 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

E-MAIL

RECEIVED BY

NO. 90775-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BNBUILDERS INC.

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ELLIOTT FURST Senior Counsel WSBA No. 12026 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7740

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

IV. ARGUMENT

It is well recognized that asbestos is very hazardous:

³ The Board's decision is attached as appendix A.

Air-borne asbestos dust and particles . . . are known to produce irreversible lung damage and bronchogenic carcinoma. One American of every four dying in urban areas of the United States has asbestos particles or dust in his lungs. The nature of this problem is such as to constitute a hazard to the public health and safety, and should be brought under appropriate regulation.

RCW 49.26.010. Because of this hazard, WISHA imposes multiple requirements on employers when their employees are working with materials that may contain asbestos. *See* WAC 296-62-077 to -0755. This case involves the factual question as to whether BNB knew or had reason to know that its employees were exposed to asbestos. The fact-finder found it did know and this is supported by the admissions from key BNB personnel: the foreman, the safety director, and the superintendent. No issue of substantial public interest is raised by the routine application of the legal standard regarding knowledge to the facts of this case. No conflict with this Court's case law regarding strict liability is shown as such liability was not imposed. This Court should deny review.

- A. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Presented by a Case Involving the Admission by the Employer That It Suspected Asbestos Was Present Where the Employees Worked
 - 1. The Admissions and Conduct of BNB Personnel Provide Substantial Evidence That BNB Had Reason To Believe There Was Asbestos Where the Employees Worked

As is well established by the case law, WISHA imposes penalties upon employers who have constructive or actual knowledge of hazardous conditions. RCW 49.17.180(6); *see BD Roofing, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 139 Wn. App. 98, 109, 161 P.3d 387 (2007); *Wash. Cedar & Supply Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 119 Wn. App. 906, 914, 83 P.3d 1012 (2003). RCW 49.17.180(6) provides the definition of "knowledge" under the WISHA. It provides that a "serious" violation exists if it is known or could be known with the exercise of reasonable diligence:

if there is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from a condition which exists, or from one or more practices, means, methods, operations, or processes which have been adopted or are in use in such workplace, *unless the employer did not, and could not with the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence of the violation.*

RCW 49.17.180(6)(emphasis added).

Reasonable diligence includes several factors, including an employer's obligation to inspect the work area, to anticipate hazards to which employees may be exposed, and to take measures to prevent their occurrence. *Erection Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 160 Wn. App. 194, 206-07, 248 P. 3d 1085 (2011).

Here, substantial evidence supports the Board's finding of knowledge as shown by the admissions of the foreman, the safety director,

and the general superintendent, all of which demonstrate that BNB had reason to believe asbestos was present where the employees were removing carpet. The conduct by BNB's management demonstrates actual knowledge that employees were exposed to asbestos. Two employees testified that foreman Voss instructed them to bag and segregate broken tiles because they contained asbestos. BR Pennington at 8-10; BR Weston at 77. The foreman admitted he suspected asbestos. BR Rees 1/12/11 at 40. The safety director said that work should have stopped on the carpet removal. BR Campbell at 112. The superintendent said that he directed that work should be stopped until an abatement contractor was on site. BR Ex. 52 at 1, Blake at 15-17. Yet work continued.

Now BNB wishes to hide behind the good faith survey performed on the site. Pet. 4. A good faith survey is required before any demolition or construction begins that may disturb and expose workers to asbestos. RCW 49.26.013(1); WAC 296-62-07721(2)(b). Raising an argument it did not brief below, BNB claims it did not need to follow up on its foreman's and general superintendent's beliefs that the material contained asbestos because they were not "AHERA accredited Building

Supervisors." Pet. 5-6.⁴ Similarly, it must believe that it need not be accountable for the safety director's knowledge as well. Nothing in the good faith survey regulation allows an employer to ignore the presence of asbestos when it becomes known after construction or demolition begins.

Despite the multitude of published state and federal worker safety opinions arising from inspections involving foremen, safety directors, and superintendents, no authority is cited by BNB to support its argument that their personnel's assessment of the hazards can be ignored because such personnel are not accredited asbestos experts. In fact, case law provides that the knowledge of management personnel such as foremen, safety directors, and superintendents are imputed to the employer. *See Danis-Shook Joint Venture XXV v. Sec. of Labor*, 319 F.3d 805 (6th Cir. 2003).

Here the foreman, safety director, and general superintendent had years of experience in construction, had read the 2007 survey and the 2008 letter, and made statements admitting the presence of asbestos. *See* BR Rees 1/12/11 at 40; Campbell at 112; Blake at 16-17; Voss at 13-14. On

⁴ Although BNB referred to a similar argument in oral argument because an amicus raised it, BNB did not raise this issue in its briefing. This Court need not consider an argument not properly raised in the Court of Appeals. *Pappas v. Hershberger*, 85 Wn.2d 152, 153-54, 530 P.2d 642 (1975) (Court does not consider arguments not raised in the Court of Appeals); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (court only considers arguments raised in the appellant's brief); *Long v. Odell*, 60 Wn.2d 151, 154, 372 P.2d 548 (1962) (court does not consider arguments raised only by amici); *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 170-71, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992) (argument raised for first time at oral argument is not properly before the court and need not be considered).

substantial evidence review, the inference from these facts is that, based on this information, they believed the employees were encountering asbestos. *See Frank Colluccio Const. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 181 Wn. App. 25, 35, 329 P.3d 91 (2014) (court views evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party at the Board). The fact-finder's finding of knowledge is not to be second guessed, and certainly presents no issue for review.

In attempting to avoid the finding of "knowledge" by the Board, BNB argues that it should be allowed to rely exclusively upon the good faith survey; and, because they lack expertise in identifying asbestos, neither BNB's management nor its employees should be allowed to "second guess" a good faith survey. Pet. 5-6. The flaw in this argument is that, as noted below, the good faith survey and the attachments to the survey plainly stated the limitations to the survey. BNB chose to "secondguess" those limitations and conduct work both where asbestos had not been sampled and where it had been found.

Applying BNB's request to ignore its foreman's, safety director's, and superintendent's concerns demonstrates the flaws in its argument. They were aware of the limitations of the good faith survey. BR Carling at 156-57; BR Gladu at 155. The good faith survey stated on its face that it had substantial limitations. BR Ex. 35 (Section 3.0 "Limitations").

There were documents attached to the survey that recommended that a new survey be obtained because there were large areas containing potential asbestos containing materials that were not tested in the 2007 survey. BR Ex. 35; BR Ex. 34 (Kappers letter at 6). BNB's petition never mentions any of the limitations placed on the 2007 good faith survey. It appears to argue that contractors should be allowed to rely on parts of a good faith survey and ignore other parts of the survey.

It is not surprising that asbestos was found in a building built in the 1940s. The potential of asbestos exposure to employees in this building would be known to many members of the general public without specialized training in light of the amount of attention our society has given the problems associated with asbestos in old buildings. BNB personnel do not have to be extensively trained in asbestos removal to know that employees may be at risk when removing floor tiles in a more than 70 year-old building.

Similarly, BNB believes it did not need to follow up on the safety complaints of its employees. Pet. 1, 5-6. This Court should reject BNB's attempts to discredit the complaints of its employees. BNB's arguments are contrary to one of the basic premises underlying the WISHA that encourage employees to bring safety concerns to the attention of their employers because the government cannot be present in every workplace

at all times. See RCW 49.17.110. No court has allowed employers to disregard employee concerns about their own safety.

2.

BNB Directed Its Employees To Work in Areas That the Good Faith Survey Indicated Were Surrounded by Asbestos. This Information From the Good Faith Survey Provides Substantial Evidence of Knowledge

BNB claims that it followed the good faith survey are belied by the facts. It claims BNB "removed the carpet because the ECI Survey indicated there was no asbestos material beneath it." Pet. 7. But it allowed its employees to work in an area where five out seven places tested in the good faith survey came back positive for asbestos. BR Ex. 35 at 4. This fact alone shows knowledge and supports the Board's finding.⁵

Additionally, BNB allowed its employees to work in areas that were not tested, even though asbestos checkered the worksite. *See* BR 34; BR Ex. 35 (Table 1 at 3), BR Weston 71. The Department's inspector testified it cannot be assumed that if an area is untested it does not contain asbestos. BR Rees 1/12/11 at 13, 17.

3. Review Is Not Warranted in This Substantial Evidence Case

⁵ BNB also had actual knowledge it was using a good faith survey with major limitations, and had rejected recommendations it obtain a more expensive comprehensive survey. BNB adopted a "see no evil" approach that guaranteed it would not know *exactly* where asbestos was located at its worksite, even though it knew about the asbestos' presence. Such conduct cannot be rewarded.

The Board's inquiry was simple: did BNB know or have reason to believe after exercising due diligence that asbestos was present where the employees were working. Although BNB portrays this case as one that involves the daily operations of contractors such as to justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), it neglects to mention the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished and has no effect beyond this case. But in the instant application only at issue here, the Board correctly evaluated the evidence to see if BNB had knowledge of the asbestos after the good faith survey was completed, and the Court of Appeals correctly reviewed that decision for substantial evidence. There is not a case that has precisely addressed the issue in this case, but it was decided based on well-accepted principles of substantial evidence review and employer knowledge. No issue of substantial public interest is presented by the substantial evidence review of the Board's finding that BNB did have reason to suspect asbestos.

B. BNB Shows No Conflict With this Court's Cases Regarding Strict Liability as Strict Liability Was Not Imposed by Following the Applicable Regulations and Statutes

Strict liability was not imposed in this case. At the Board, the Department had to prove that BNB had knew or had reason to believe that asbestos was present. RCW 49.17.180(6). BNB cites to *New Meadows Holding Co. by Raugust v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 495, 687 P.2d 212 (1984), for the proposition that certain standards must be

shown before imposing strict liability. Pet. at 7-8, 12. It claims these standards were not met, and thus the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *New Meadows. Id.* No conflict is demonstrated by a case that simply does not apply.

BNB argues that it is being held strictly liable because it relied on the good faith survey, and the good faith survey "results were in error." Pet. at 12. The Department has never argued, and the Court of Appeals never stated, that the good faith survey was "in error." To the contrary, the survey clearly stated its limitations. Requiring that BNB also rely on the survey's stated limitations is not an imposition of strict liability.

Nor is strict liability imposed by a holding that a good faith survey does not shield an employer from liability when the employer had reason to believe asbestos was where the employees worked. BNB cites an array of administrative and court decisions addressing citations issued under the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act in support of its argument that strict liability is not required by it. Pet. 9-14. The Department agrees that strict liability is not the standard, but here substantial evidence supports the finding of knowledge and that strict liability was not applied.

V. CONCLUSION

BNB cannot demonstrate any conflict with the decisions of this Court, nor has it shown any other basis warranting review. Here BNB

personnel thought that there was asbestos present where the employees worked and this knowledge, which arose after the good faith survey occurred, necessitated BNB to take steps to protect its employees. BNB sent its employee into an area that the asbestos survey showed was surrounded by asbestos, and this fact alone shows knowledge. In the face of such evidence, the Court of Appeals properly determined that substantial evidence supports the Board's factual findings. The Department asks this Court to deny review.